
 
 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 
28 May 2024 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in Town Hall, Market Street, 
Tamworth on Wednesday, 5th June, 2024 at 6.00 pm. Members of the Committee are 
requested to attend. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence  
 
2 Appointment of the Vice-Chair  
 
3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 
 
4 Declarations of Interest  

NON-CONFIDENTIAL



 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-
pecuniary) in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 

 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in 
respect of which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of 
such interest.  Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or 
non-pecuniary interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   

 
Under Section 33(2) of the Localism Act 2011, the act permits an authority 
to grant a dispensation from either or both of the restrictions not to 
participate and / or vote on a matter in which they have a pecuniary  
interest.  Planning Committee Members have received a dispensation for 
applications relating to the Future High Street Project for a period of two 
years starting from 7th July 2022 until 7th July 2024. 

 
 

 
5 Applications for Consideration  
 
 a 0367/2023 South Staffordshire College  (Pages 11 - 20) 
  (Report of the Assistant Director, Growth and Regeneration) 

 
Application no: 0367/2023 
  
Proposal: Demolition of all existing buildings 
  
Location: Tamworth and Lichfield College, Croft Street, Tamworth, 

Staffs, B79 8AE 
 
 b 0061/2024 Land off Moor Lane, Bolehall  (Pages 21 - 32) 
  (Report of the Assistant Director, Growth and Regeneration) 

 
Application no: 0061/2024 
  
Proposal: Installation of a stoned access track, manoeuvring area to 

front of agricultural building and timber restroom 
(retrospective), installation of solar panels to rear roof 
slope.  

  
Location: Land Off Moor Lane, Bolehall, Tamworth 

 
 

 
6 Updates to Committee from Planning Officers  

 
   _______________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk


 

Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 
Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 
be found here for further information. 

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please contact a 
member of Democratic Services before selecting a seat 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 
here 

 
To Councillors: L Wood, C Adams, M Clarke, R Claymore, G Coates, D Foster, 

R Kingstone, K Norchi, P Pallett, L Smith, S Smith, M Summers and 
P Turner 

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1  

 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 5th MARCH 2024 

 
 
 
PRESENT: Councillors C Adams, R Claymore, G Coates, D Cook (Vice-

Chair), A Cooper, J Harper, M Summers, P Thurgood and L Wood 
 
The following officers were in attendance: Harjit Gill, Legal Advisor, Glen Baker-
Adams (Team Leader - Development Manager), Andrew Davies (Planning 
Officer), Tracey Pointon (Legal Admin & Democratic Services Manager) and 
Tracey Smith (Democratic Services Assistant) 
 

26 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Bailey & J Wadrup 
 
The Vice Chair Cllr D Cook presided over the meeting in the Chairs absence.   
 

27 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on16th January 2024 were approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor L Wood and seconded by Councillor A Cooper) 
 

28 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
 

29 APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

30 0451/2022 LAND OFF APOLLO, TAMWORTH ROAD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, 
B79 7TA  
 
Application:   0451/2022 
  

Proposal:  Erection of ten units (Use Class B2, B8 and Class E (g) (ii) 
and E (g) (iii)) with ancillary office use, associated parking 
and landscaping 

   
Location:    Land off Apollo, Tamworth, Lichfield Road Industrial 

Estate, B79 7T 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee 5 March 2024 
 

 
2 

 

 
 
Resolved  that the Committee 
  
 Agreed the reasons for approval set out in this report; 
  
 Resolve to grant planning permission subject to conditions 

listed in Section 8 of this report. 
 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and Seconded by Councillor A 
Cooper) 

 
 

 
The Planning Officer informed Committee that some wording of 
the conditions had been changed slightly from the original 
report.  These have now all been checked, and the full list is 
now as follows:  
 

Conditions/Reason: 
1. 1. The development shall be commenced within three years of the 

date of this permission.  

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

  

2. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the drawings:  
 
Site Plan, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 (PL) 002 Rev 
P3)  
 
Site Plan – External Works, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. 
B6842 (PL) 003 Rev P1) 
  
•Swept Path Analysis 7.5 Tonne Panel Van, prepared by Connect 
Consultants (dwg no. 23033- TR001 Rev A)  
 
•Swept Path Analysis 7.5 Tonne Panel Van, prepared by Connect 
Consultants (dwg no. 23033- TR002 Rev A)  
 
•Swept Path Analysis Refuse Vehicle, prepared by Connect 
Consultants (dwg no. 23033 – TR003 Rev A)  
 
Swept Path Analysis Refuse Vehicle, prepared by Connect 
Consultants (dwg no. 23033 – TR004 Rev A)  
 
General Arrangement Plan Sheet 1 of 3, prepared by FPCR (dwg no. 

Page 6



Planning Committee 5 March 2024 
 

 
3 

 

10988-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-0001 Issue P03)  
 
Detailed Planting Plan Sheet 2 of 3, prepared by FPCR (dwg no. 
10988-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 Issue P03) 
  
Detailed Planting Plan Sheet 3 of 3, prepared by FPCR (dwg no. 
10988-FPCR-XX-XX-DR-L-0003 Issue P03)  
 
Lighting Proposal, prepared by Kingfisher Lighting (dwg no. D1)  
 
Location Plan, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 (PL) 001)  
 
Units 1 and 2 Elevations, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 
(PL) 011)  
 
Unit 3 Elevations, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 (PL) 
013)  
 
Units 4 to 8 Elevations, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 
(PL) 015)  
 
Units 9 and 10 Elevations, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. 
B6842 (PL) 017)  
 
Units 1 and 2 – GA Plans, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 
(PL) 010 Rev P1)  
 
Unit 3 - GA Plans, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 (PL) 
012 Rev P1)  
 
Units 4 to 8 – GA Plans, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 
(PL) 014)  
 
Units 9 and 10 Plans, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 
(PL) 016)  
 
Site Context Plan, prepared by Nicol Thomas (dwg no. B6842 (PL) 
004 Rev P1)  
 
Lighting Datasheet ‘Quarto’, prepared by Kingfisher Lighting 
  
Lighting Datasheet ‘Viva-City Flood’, prepared by Kingfisher Lighting 
 
Reason: To define the permission.   

  

Page 7



Planning Committee 5 March 2024 
 

 
4 

 

3. Prior to the commencement of development, including 
demolition, a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved management plan shall 
include details relating to construction access, hours of 
construction, routing of HGV’s, delivery times and the location 
of the contractor’s compounds, cabins, material storage areas 
and contractors parking and a scheme for the management and 
suppression of dust and mud from construction activities 
including the provision of a vehicle wheel wash. All site 
operations shall then be undertaken strictly in accordance with 
the approved CEMP for the duration of the construction 
programme. 
  
Reason: In order to minimise the impact of construction activity 
on the surrounding environment in accordance with section 11 
of the National Planning Policy Framework and in accordance 
with Policy EN5 Design of New Development of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031.  

  

4. Prior to commencement of development a plan detailing 
species (bat, bird and hedgehog) and tree protection measures 
including role of supervising ecologist is to be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval.  
 
Reason: In the interests of enhancing biodiversity on site and in 
accordance with Policy EN4 Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-
2031. 

  

5. Prior to commencement of development a plan for Surface 
Water Management During Construction is to be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to evidence that adequate provision for 
surface water management both in terms of runoff quantity 
(flows and volumes), as well as quality (pollution mitigation) in 
compliance with Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management 
of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031. 

  

6. The development permitted by this planning permission shall 
only be carried out in accordance with the approved Foul and 
Surface Water Drainage Strategy General Arrangement, 
prepared by Bright Young Consulting Limited (dwg no. 
22065/DR/0501 Rev 3).  
 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 

Page 8



Planning Committee 5 March 2024 
 

 
5 

 

storage of and disposal of surface water from the site in 
compliance with Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management 
of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031. 

  

7. No development approved by this planning permission shall be 
occupied until such time as details in relation to the 
management and maintenance of surface water drainage has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The 
development must be managed and maintained in accordance 
with these approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water systems shall be 
maintained and managed for the lifetime of the development in 
compliance with Policy SU4 Flood Risk and Water Management 
of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

  

8. The proposed (car parking, access, servicing and circulation 
areas) as shown on the approved plans shall be sustainably 
drained, hard surfaced in a bound material, (lit) and marked out 
prior to the first occupation of the site hereby permitted. 
Thereafter these parking/servicing areas shall be retained in 
accordance with the approved plans for the lifetime of the 
development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance 
with Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 Policy 
SU2 Delivering Sustainable Transport. 

  

9. Secure, covered and safe cycle parking facilities shall be 
provided within the site prior to the first occupation of the 
development. The approved facilities shall be retained for the 
lifetime of the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance 
with Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 Policy 
SU2 Delivering Sustainable Transport. 

  
  
 Chair  
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

5th June 2024 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5a



Application Reference 
 

0367/2023 

Proposal 
 

Demolition of all existing buildings 

Site Address 
 

Tamworth and Lichfield College Croft Street Tamworth Staffordshire 
B79 8AE 
 

Case Officer 
 

Glen Baker-Adams  

Recommendation  
 

1. Agree the reasons for approval set out in this report; and 
 
2. Resolve to grant planning permission subject to conditions listed in 

Section 8 of this report. 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 This application is for demolition of all the existing buildings associated with South Staffordshire 

College off Croft Street, Tamworth. 
 
1.2 There are a total of six buildings that will be demolished. An area at the rear of the site will be 

provided for waste material where it is intended to remove or keep on site material that could be 
used for  building in the future.  
 

1.3 As the college site is being developed in Tamworth Town centre, there is no longer a requirement 
for this site off Croft Street. Planning permission being obtained for the demolition only will provide 
the criteria for the procurement of a future contractor based on the planning approval.  
 

1.4 The extent of demolition and the area for this waste material has been shown on plan reference 
B049849-TTE-00-XX-DR-C-003-P01.  

 
1.5 The works are associated with the development of the site is subject to a separate application 

reference 0363/2023 which will be determined at a later date.  
 
Location Plan 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS2  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
EN4  Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5  Design and New Development 
SU2  Delivering Sustainable Transport 
SU3  Climate Change Mitigation 
 

2.2 National Planning Policy  
 
 National Planning Policy Framework 2023 
 National Planning Practice Guidance 2014- 
 
 
3. Relevant Site History 

 

Reference Description Decision Date 

0363/2023 Outline application (access sought) - Construction of 
Up to 123 new homes (including 20% affordable), an 
80-bed care home, access, public open space, 
landscaping, attenuation basin and associated 
infrastructure 

Pending 
Consideration 

TBC – 
estimated 
July 2024 

 
Over its history, various extensions and alterations have been determined. The planning database 
contains the full details of these.  
 

 
 

3. Consultation Responses 
 
3.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx          

 
The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

 
 
 Tamworth Borough Council Consultees  
 
3.2.1 Environmental Protection – no objections 
 
 
 Staffordshire County Council Consultees  
 
3.3.1 Highways – no objections subject to conditions 
 
3.3.2 Archaeology – no objections subject to the applicant being made clear that should the demolition of 

buildings commence prior to the archaeological evaluation under 0363/2023, the site should be left 
clear of debris/ stockpiled material to enable the trenching to be completed. 

 
 
 Statutory Consultees  
 
3.4.1 Network Rail – No objections subject to following details of Asset Protection standards and guidance 

on operating procedures close to railway infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 

Page 13

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/planning_docs/Local-Plan-2006-2031.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


 
4. Additional Representations 
 
4.1 As part of the consultation process adjacent occupiers of residential properties were notified. A 

press notice was published and two site notices were erected near the site on Croft Street and Croft 
Avenue. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full 
copies of the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx.  

 
4.2 Three letters of objection were received with planning related objections on the grounds of traffic 

concerns and capacity issues over local facilities. No concerns were raised in relation to the 
demolition only which is the subject of this application.  

 
 

5. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
5.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
5.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
 
6. Planning Considerations 
 
 The key issues to be considered at this stage are:  
 

• Principle 

• Character and Appearance 

• Highway Safety 

• Amenity 

• Ecology 
 
 
6.1 Principle 
 
6.1.1 The Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 (the local plan) was adopted in February 

2016. As well as the local plan the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the 
accompanying Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied. The starting point in determining the acceptability of 
development proposals is the local plan, where the policies are considered consistent with the 
NPPF. Policy SS1 The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth is to provide development in the most 
accessible and sustainable locations and SS2 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development, 
states that proposals that accord with the local plan are sustainable and will be approved without 
delay. The local plan strategy continues to maximise development on brownfield sites and therefore 
facilitating this through the demolition of existing buildings with this application will fulfil this aim.  

 
6.1.2 Homes England are securing planning consent for the demolition of South Staffordshire College’s, 

Croft Street campus separately the residential development of the site. This will provide the criteria 
for the procurement of a future contractor based on the planning approval. It is intended to progress 
the demolition upon the College’s relocation to Tamworth Town Centre. 

 
6.1.3 The demolition of the existing buildings aims to facilitate the further development of the college site 

which is part of a separate application. 
 
6.1.4 The new college is being built in the town centre as part of the council’s Future High Street scheme.  

Page 14

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


 
6.1.5 Without prejudice to the final decision, the demolition of a site of buildings which are surplus to 

requirements on a brownfield site would be acceptable in principle, paving the way for a suitable 
development in this location.  

 
6.1.6   The proposed development is therefore considered to be in compliance with key policies of the 

Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 and in principle an acceptable form of 
development for the location subject to meeting other requirements of the Local Plan. 

 
 
6.2 Character and Appearance 
 
6.2.1 The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and in general terms the 

design of a proposal should not adversely impact on the character and appearance of the wider 
street scene. 

 
6.2.2 Policy EN5 Design of New Development states that developments should be of a scale, layout form 

and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize materials and 
overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals 
should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics 
but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area. 

 
6.2.3 The site would be cleared in readiness of future development. Naturally, the clearance of buildings 

would change the nature of the site but not to a degree that would harm the area. Material would be 
suitably stored in one single centralised location away from residential properties and the public 
realm.  

 
6.2.4 The character and appearance of the proposed development would not affect the streetscene and is 

considered to be in compliance with Policy EN5 Design of New Development of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031.  

 
 
6.3 Highway Safety 
 
6.3.1 Local plan policy EN5 (h) states that new developments will be expected to pay particular regard to 

highway safety and servicing requirements, the capacity of the local road network and the adopted 
parking standards set out in Appendix C. In addition, policy SU2 also states planning permission 
should only be granted where development would ensure adequate highway safety, suitable access 
for all people and where feasible reduce the impact of travel up on the environment. Planning 
permission will be refused where travel to and from the development would be likely to cause 
harmful levels of pollution, highway safety or capacity impacts. 

 
6.3.2 To support the highway considerations, a demolition works document and plan has been produced 

showing the movements of vehicles that are likely to be needed for this work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Additional information has also been included which confirms: 

• 40 x 8-wheeler wagon movements to remove scrap metal, timber and non-recyclable 
materials. 

• This is on the basis that the car park tar macadam is left in situ and will not need to be 
removed from site and that all other materials e.g. concrete and brick is crushed and retained on 
site.  
Further information shall be provided if these are required to be removed – providing numbers and 
type of vehicles. 
 
This information has been observed as satisfactory by the Staffordshire County Council highways 
team with enough room located to accommodate these movements.  
 

 As a result it is considered the application will be in accordance with Policy SU2 Sustainable 
Transport; Appendix C of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.    

 
 
6.4 Amenity 
 
6.4.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. NPPF paragraph 130 f) also states that planning  decisions 
should ensure that developments create places with a high standard of amenity for existing and 
future users.  

 
6.4.2 The application seeks demolition of the existing buildings so as a result there would be no new 

development, therefore no significant amenity impacts. Naturally, the works to facilitate this work, it 
may cause some disturbance and therefore ensure that the works however are conducted in a 
controlled manner and not create issues to those living and working locally, a construction method 
statement will need to be submitted outlining measures including hours of operation and reducing 
dust which may be created in the cause of this demolition. This has been conditioned.  

 
6.4.3 The application was also considered by our Environmental protection team who observed there 

were no significant concerns with the works.  
 
6.4.4 As a result the proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy EN5 Design of New 

Development of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

  
 
6.5 Ecology  
 
6.5.1 Policy EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity states development will be required to 

demonstrate appropriate mitigation to ensure no negative impact. In addition, development will be 
supported that preserves designated biodiversity, maintains the favourable conservation status of 
populations of protected species and incorporates existing landscape features. Development should 
not result in a net loss of biodiversity by ensuring that where harm to biodiversity is unavoidable and 
it has been demonstrated that no alternative sites are suitable, development is adequately mitigated 
or as a last resort, compensated for; otherwise planning permission should be refused. 

 
6.5.2 The application has been supported by both a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Tetra Tech, May 

2023) and Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (WSP, December 2023). These documents have been 
subject to scrutiny by the ecology team at Staffordshire County Council who have confirmed that on 
site there are potential presence of great crested newts, bats and hedgehogs. As a result of this and 
the need to provide measures to protect these assets a number of further reporting is needed which 
will be a requirement of the accompanying outline application. Relevant to this application, 
demolition could cause issues for bats and a relevant condition has been included at section 8.   

 
6.5.3 As a result the proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy EN4 Protecting and 

Enhancing Biodiversity of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 16



7 Conclusion 
 
7.1 The proposal is for the demolition of all the buildings associated with the current South Staffordshire 

College site off Croft Street. As a result of a new college being built in the town centre, the current 
campus buildings will be no longer required.  

 
7.2 The demolition application is required to provide the criteria for the procurement of a future 

contractor based on the planning approval.  
 
7.3 Suitable documentation has been provided to demonstrate that there would be no significant 

highway issues, amenity concerns and with accurate conditions; ecological interests will be suitably 
monitored with mitigation measures provided.  

 
7.3 In each of the policy areas considered, the proposal has, with conditions where necessary, met or 

exceeded the policy requirements established by the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-
2031 and the interests of consultees. It is recommended therefore that the proposal is approved 
subject to conditions.  

 
 
8 Recommendation 
 

Approval subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. The development shall be commenced within five years of the date of this permission.  
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
application form and drawings: 

 

• Demolition Method Statement 784-B049849-REV4 
 

• Site Location 784-B049849-001 
 

• Constraints and Requirements 784-B049849-002  
 

• Post Demolition Plan 784-B049849-003  
 

• Archaeological and Heritage Desk-Based Assessment 784-B031799 
 

• Geophysical Survey 40573  
 

• Remediation Strategy 784-B031799  
 

• Drainage Plan General Arrangement GA-B031799-TTE-XX-XX-DR-C-2510-P02 
 

• Drainage Plan General Arrangement GA-B031799-TTE-XX-XX-DR-C-2511-P02 
 

• Drainage Plan General Arrangement GA-B031799-TTE-XX-XX-DR-C-2512-P02 
 

• Drainage Plan General Arrangement GA-B031799-TTE-XX-XX-DR-C-2513-P02 
 

• Drainage Plan General Arrangement GA-B031799-TTE-XX-XX-DR-C-2514-P02 
 

• Drainage Strategy B031799-TTE-XX-XX-RP-C-00510P02 
 

• Flood Risk Assessment 784-B31799  
 

• Asbestos Removal and Demolition Works document 784-B049849 Revision C04. 
 
Reason: To define the permission. 

 

Page 17



3. Prior to  the commencement of development a plan detailing if additional material is to be 
removed from site before any works at that stage is carried out. The development hereby 
permitted shall be conducted in accordance with the submitted details unless approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure that there is suitable highway considerations given for these extra 
movements having regard to policy SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-31.  

 
4. Notwithstanding the details contained within the approved documents, prior to commencement 

of development, a Bat Emergence Survey shall be submitted to the local authority that  
includes; 
a) Categorisation of bat roosts present on the site (including bat species, population numbers 

and entry and exit points); and 
b) To be conducted outside of daylight hours at dusk and dawn. 

 
 Subject to the findings of the Bat Emergence Survey, a Bat Mitigation Strategy shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter. 
 

 
 

Notes to applicant  
Network Rail 
The applicant is drawn to the Network Rail's Asset Protection document 
 
Further Information  
Measurements to railway tracks and railway boundary 
When designing proposals, the developer and council are advised, that any measurements 
must be taken from the operational railway / Network Rail boundary and not from the railway 
tracks themselves. From the existing railway tracks to the Network Rail boundary, the land will 
include critical infrastructure (e.g. cables, signals, overhead lines, communication equipment 
etc) and boundary treatments (including support zones, vegetation) which might be adversely 
impacted by outside party proposals unless the necessary asset protection measures are 
undertaken. No proposal should increase Network Rail’s liability. To ensure the safe operation 
and integrity of the railway, Network Rail issues advice on planning applications and requests 
conditions to protect the railway and its boundary. 
 
Obligations 
Properties adjoining or in the vicinity of the railway are frequently the subject of obligations, 
rights, exceptions and reservations for the benefit of Network Rail’s land and railway. The 
applicant must review the title to their property to see whether any such obligations etc exist and 
ensure that there is no non-compliance or breaches of them or any interference with or 
obstruction of Network Rail’s rights and reservations. If the proposed development would not 
comply with or would breach any of the terms of the conveyance, the developer must revise his 
proposals. 
 
RAMS 
The developer is to submit directly to Network Rail asset protection, a Risk Assessment and 
Method Statement (RAMS) for all works to be undertaken within 10m of the operational railway 
under Construction (Design and Management) Regulations, and this is in addition to any 
planning consent. Network Rail would need to be re-assured the works on site follow safe 
methods of working and have also taken into consideration any potential impact on Network Rail 
land and the existing operational railway infrastructure. Builder to ensure that no dust or debris 
is allowed to contaminate Network Rail land as the outside party would be liable for any clean-
up costs. Review and agreement of the RAMS will be undertaken between Network Rail and the 
applicant/developer. 
 
Fail Safe Use of Crane and Plant 
All operations, including the use of cranes or other mechanical plant working adjacent to 
Network RailÂ’s property, must at all times be carried out in a Â“fail safeÂ” manner such that in 
the event of mishandling, collapse or failure, no materials or plant are capable of falling within 
3.0m of the nearest rail of the adjacent railway line, or where the railway is electrified, within 
3.0m of 

Page 18



overhead electrical equipment or supports. With a development of a certain height that may/will 
require use of a crane, the developer must bear in mind the following. Crane usage adjacent to 
railway infrastructure is subject to stipulations on size, capacity etc. which needs to be agreed 
by Network Rail prior to implementation. 
 
Please see links to guidance for tower crane and mobile cranes adjacent to the railway to be 
flagged up to the developer/applicant. 
 
 
https://www.cpa.uk.net/downloads/80/CPA-CIG-Mobile-Cranes-Alongside-Railways-181201.pdf 
 
https://www.cpa.uk.net/safety-and-technical-publications/tower-crane-guidance 
 
 
Encroachment 
The developer/applicant must ensure that their proposal, both during construction, and after 
completion of works on site, does not affect the safety, operation or integrity of the operational 
railway, Network Rail land and its infrastructure or undermine or damage or adversely affect any 
railway land and structures. 
 
There must be no physical encroachment of the proposal onto Network Rail land, no over-
sailing into Network Rail air-space and no encroachment of foundations onto Network Rail land 
or under the Network Rail boundary. 
All buildings and structures on site including all foundations / fencing foundations must be 
constructed wholly within the applicant’s land ownership footprint. 
Buildings, windows and structures must not over-sail Network Rail air-space/boundary. 
Any future maintenance must be conducted solely within the applicant’s land ownership. 
Rainwater goods must not discharge towards or over the railway boundary 
Should the applicant require access to Network Rail land to facilitate their proposal they would 
need to approach the Network Rail Asset Protection Team at least 20 weeks before any works 
are due to commence on site. The applicant would be liable for all costs incurred in facilitating 
the proposal and an asset protection agreement may be necessary to undertake works. Network 
Rail reserves the right to refuse any works by an outside party that may adversely impact its 
land and infrastructure. 
Any unauthorised access to Network Rail air-space or land will be deemed an act of trespass. 
 
Access to Railway 
All roads, paths or ways providing access to any part of the railway undertaker's land both 
temporary and permanent, must remain open and unblocked (24/7, 365 Â– around the clock) 
both during construction works and as a permanent arrangement. 
 
The proposal must not encroach onto any Network Rail access road, paths or ways of access to 
any part of Network Rail land. This also includes emergency vehicles ability to access and exit 
Network Rail land. 
 
The proposal construction works must not prevent Network Rail from accessing its land. 
 
Demolition 
The demolition works on site must be carried out so that they do not endanger the safe 
operation of the railway, or the stability of the adjoining Network Rail structures and land. The 
demolition of the existing building(s), due to its close proximity to the Network Rail boundary, 
must be carried out in accordance with an agreed method statement. Review of the method 
statement will be undertaken by the Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer before the 
development and any demolition works on site can commence. Network Rail would like to add 
that the applicant is strongly recommended to employ companies to demolish buildings / 
structures belonging to the National Federation of Demolition Contractors. This will ensure that 
all demolition works are carried out to professional standards and the company itself will also 
include liability insurance as part of its service. 
 
BAPA (Basic Asset Protection Agreement) 
As the proposal includes works which could impact the existing operational railway and in order 
to facilitate the above, a BAPA (Basic Asset Protection Agreement) will need to be agreed 
between the developer and Network Rail. The developer will be liable for all costs incurred by 

Page 19



Network Rail in facilitating this proposal, including any railway site safety costs, possession 
costs, asset protection costs / presence, site visits, review and agreement of proposal 
documents and any buried services searches. The BAPA will be in addition to any planning 
consent. 
 
All new enquiries will need to be submitted via the Asset Protection and Optimisation - 
Customer Portal 
 
Link to ASPRO ACE Portal ASPRO Network Rail Implementation (oraclecloud.com) 
 
 
From there, the client can create an account and submit their enquiry. Enquiry will then be 
assigned to one of the Asset Protection team to progress. The assigned team member will then 
be in a position to review and comment on any submissions from the outside party. 
 
 
No works are to commence until with agreed Network Rail. Early engagement with Network Rail 
is strongly recommended. 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

5th June 2024 

 
 
 

APPLICATION FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

 

 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - GROWTH & REGENERATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5b



Application Reference 
 

0061/2024 

Proposal  
 
 

Installation of a stoned access track, manoeuvring area to front of 
agricultural building and timber restroom (retrospective), installation of 
solar panels to rear roof slope. 
 

Site Address 
 

Land Off Moor Lane, Bolehall, Tamworth 

Case Officer 
 

Andrew Davies 

Recommendation  
 

Refusal 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 This application is for operational development including the installation of a stoned access track, 

manoeuvring area to front of agricultural building and timber restroom (retrospective) and installation 
of solar panels to rear roof slope of an existing agricultural building at a site on land off Moor Lane, 
Bolehall. It was called in to the Planning Committee by Cllr Carol Dean on 23 March 2024. 
 

1.2 Cllr C Dean provided the following reasons for call in of the application: 

 
Impact on the amenity of neighbours 
Impact on surrounding area 
Character of area and design 
Impacts upon trees 

 
1.3 SITE PROPOSALS 
 

Location and Site Plans 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 22



 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 23



2. Policies 
 
2.1 Local Plan Policies  
 

SS1  The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 
SS2  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
EN1  Landscape Character  
EN4  Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity 
EN5  Design and New Development 
SU2  Delivering Sustainable Transport 

 
2.2 Supplementary Planning Documents  
 
 Design SPD 
 
 
2.3 National Planning Policy  
 
 National Planning Policy Framework 2023 
 National Design Guide 2021 
 National Planning Practice Guidance 2014- 
 
3. Relevant Site History 

 

Refence Description Decision Date 

0460/2022 Prior Approval Notification 
for Erection of agricultural 
building for storage 

Prior approval not required 05/01/2023 

 
 

3. Consultation Responses 
 
3.1 Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses received, full copies of 

the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx          

 
The consultation responses comments are précised if conditions are proposed these are included 
within the conditions at the end of the report unless stated otherwise. 

 
 
 Tamworth Borough Council Consultees  
 
3.2.1 Tamworth Borough Council Development Plans – no strategic objections 
 
3.2.2 Tamworth Borough Council Environmental Protection – no objections. 
  
 
 Staffordshire County Council Consultees  
 
3.3.1 Staffordshire County Council Ecology – no response at time of writing report. 
  
3.3.2 Staffordshire County Council Highways – no objections subject to conditions relating to construction 

and use solely for agricultural purposes. 
 
3.3.3 Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way – no objection, but advice provided regarding 

legal requirements for use of public footways and bridleways. 
 
 
 Other Consultees  
 
3.4.1 Network Rail – no objection 
 
3.4.2 Staffordshire Police – no objection 

Page 24

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/planning_docs/Local-Plan-2006-2031.pdf
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/planning_docs/Tamworth_Design_SPD_July_2019_v1-0.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962113/National_design_guide.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


 
3.4.3 Staffordshire Wildlife Trust – no response at time of writing report.  
  
 
4. Additional Representations 
 
4.1 As part of the consultation process; site notices were erected on Wednesday 20 March 2024 at five 

locations on the western boundary of the site and along the proposed access route on to and 
including at Moor Lane. Whilst every effort has been made to accurately summarise the responses 
received, copies of the representations received are available to view at 
http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx.  

 
4.2 Letters of objection were received from 37 different objectors, writing as individuals or as couples. A 

number of those objectors wrote multiple letters. A petition with 252 signatures against the 
development was received on 5th April 2024. A summary of their objections is listed below.  

 
Material planning related objections:  
 

• Ecological impact 

• Impact on safe public use of public bridleway and footpaths 

• Traffic concerns on Moor Lane 

• Appearance of the development 
 

Other non-material reasons for objection were also raised relating to previous activity at the site and 
on the access track utilised by the applicant. Concerns were also raised about impacts upon 
common land in the area and rights of access.  
 
 

5. Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
5.1 Due regard, where relevant, has been taken to the Tamworth Borough Council’s equality duty as 

contained within the Equalities Act 2010. The authority has had due regard to the public sector 
equality duty (PSED).  Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, a public authority must in the 
exercised of its functions, have due regard to the interests and needs of those sharing the protected 
characteristics under the Act, such as age, gender, disability and race. This proposal has no impact 
on such protected characteristics. 

 
5.2 There may be implications under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Human Rights 

Act, regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and to the 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  However, these issues have been taken into account in the 
determination of this application. 

 
 
6. Planning Considerations 
 
 The key issues to be considered at this stage are:  
 

• Principle 

• Character and Appearance 

• Landscape Impacts  

• Highway Safety 

• Ecology 

• Amenity 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25

http://planning.tamworth.gov.uk/northgate/planningexplorer/generalsearch.aspx


6.1 Principle 
 
6.1.1 The Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031 (LP) was adopted in February 2016. As well as the local plan 

there is guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the accompanying 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). The starting point in determining the acceptability of 
development proposals is the Local Plan, where the policies are considered consistent with the 
NPPF. Policy SS1 The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth is to provide development in the most 
accessible and sustainable locations and SS2 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development, 
states that proposals that accord with the local plan are sustainable and will be approved without 
delay.  

 
6.1.2 The majority of the site is not allocated for any specific purpose in the Local Plan, however a small 

section of the access track leading to the site falls within the designated Site of County Biological 
Importance (SBI) at Warwickshire Moor.  

 
6.1.3 The proposal is part retrospective part proposed for the installation of a stoned access track, 

manoeuvring area to front of agricultural building and timber restroom (retrospective) and installation 
of solar panels to the rear roof slope of the existing agricultural building. 

 
6.1.4 This application has been submitted following planning enforcement action against alleged breaches 

of planning law. As a result, a retrospective application was requested for the unauthorised 
development that had occurred which did not benefit from permitted development rights.  

 
6.1.5 Separate to this planning application, an enforcement notice was issued by Tamworth Borough 

Council on 28 March 2024 which took effect on 13 May 2024 to remove the access track and timber 
building and restore the land to its condition prior to development. An appeal against the 
Enforcement Notice has been submitted by the applicant and it is not possible to pursue any further 
formal enforcement action until the appeal has been decided, the timeline for which is unknown at 
this time.  

 
6.1.5 The agricultural building was described in the 2022 permitted development prior notification as being  

for the storing of vehicles, machinery and produce in connection with market gardening. It is located 
on land to the north of Moor Lane, Bolehall, Tamworth and is of an “L” shape with two arms totalling 
36m in length, 12m in width, an eaves height of 6m and a ridge height of 7m. The building is 
externally clad in green painted profiled steel.  

 
6.1.6 It was determined in December 2022 in assessment of permitted development prior notification 

application 0460/2022 that the development of the agricultural building at land to the north of Moor 
Lane, Bolehall, Tamworth met the criteria set out in Part 6 Class A of The Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as Amended) and could be 
considered as permitted development.   Part 6 Class A of The Order imposes conditions upon 
compliant development which require that the development be carried out within 5 years of the date 
of the decision, that the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details submitted 
and that the agricultural building shall be used for the sole purpose of agricultural use only.  

 
6.1.7 The retrospective part of the application relates to unauthorised development further to the 

construction of the agricultural building, of a stoned access track, manoeuvring area to the front of 
the agricultural building and a building described as a timber restroom. The proposed installation of 
solar panels to the rear roofslope of the agricultural building would be new development, however 
that development would most likely fall under the provisions of The Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). 

 
6.1.8    The proposed development due to the site location being in an area of open space, on land that has 

previously been used historically for agricultural purposes prior to falling into disuse, Is not 
intrinsically contrary to the policies of the Local Plan, but must demonstrate full compliance with 
relevant elements of the Local Plan to be considered acceptable development. 

 
 
6.2 Character and Appearance 
 
6.2.1 The appearance of a development is a material planning consideration and in general terms the 

design of a proposal should not adversely impact on the character and appearance of the wider 
street scene. 

Page 26



 
6.2.2 Policy EN5 Design and New Development states that developments should be of a scale, layout 

form and massing which conserves or enhances the setting of development and utilize materials 
and overall detailed design which conserves or enhances the context of the development. Proposals 
should respect and where appropriate reflect existing local architectural and historic characteristics 
but without ruling out innovative or contemporary design which is still sympathetic to the valued 
characteristics of an area. 

 
6.2.3 The appreciation of character and appearance is a significant part of recent planning reform and, 

with the introduction of the National Design Guide, remains a very important consideration of 
planning applications.  

 
6.2.1 The site is located to the north of the West Coast Main Line railway line, east of the Warwickshire 

Moor and west of the Anker Valley sports complex within Bolehall Ward. The site has been used for 
agricultural purposes in the past which ceased before it was acquired by the current owner with the 
intention of bringing it back into agricultural use. The site had been left to naturally develop as a 
scrub landscape and has since its acquisition by the current owner been largely cleared of 
vegetation. 

 
6.2.2 The existing development subject to this application is the provision of an access track leading to 

and hardstanding serving the agricultural building developed in 2023 under permitted development 
rights and a timber building located some 28m to the north of the nearest part of the agricultural 
building. The application also includes a proposal to solar panels to the southern roofslope of the 
agricultural building. The character and appearance of the elements described above will be 
considered individually. 

 
6.2.3 The access track and hardstanding in the vicinity of the agricultural building has been constructed 

predominantly of planings type material which has been dropped and rolled onto the surface of the 
ground. The track width is typically in the order of 2.5m and is relatively uniform within the area 
belonging to the applicant. Where the track extends into ownership other than that of the applicant, it 
has been made up sporadically, only in areas where vehicle use had damaged the unhardened 
surface. In those areas it would appear that demolition rubble had been used to fill depressions and 
to harden the surface. That surface strengthening had predominantly been composed of broken 
bricks and rubble but also included other recovered materials, such as small pieces of metal. 

 
6.2.4 It is apparent that the ground level of the track has been built up slightly relative to the adjacent 

agricultural land on the area within the Applicant’s control adjacent to the railway line. The surface 
layer of planings appearing to have been deposited over demolition rubble. To the edges of the 
track the underlying material is exposed in places. 

 
6.2.5 The hardstanding area in front of the vehicle doors of the agricultural building (of which there are a 

total of four all facing onto the hardstanding as result of the “L” shape of the agricultural building is 
approximately 32m by 31m and is considered to be of a scale that is generous for the size of 
vehicles and access requirements that the agricultural building is intended to serve. Furthermore, 
the surfaced area has been extended to the northwest by some 50m at a width of around 6m giving 
hardened access to the unauthorised timber building and slightly beyond it. 

 
6.2.6 Whilst the appearance of the surfaced areas is perhaps not unusual for an agricultural holding, it is 

considered to be excessive in its extent and to have not taken the existing character of the site into 
account, giving the track a harsh appearance that is not in keeping with the surrounding land. 

 
6.2.7 The timber building that the application seeks the retention of, is described in the application as a 

“restroom”. It is not clear what the purpose of the “restroom” is as it would appear to have no 
windows, have a low roof height and be constructed of materials that would most likely make it 
unsuitable for occupation in either low or high ambient temperatures. 

 
6.2.8 As can be seen from the plan below, the timber building has been constructed around a mobile 

home type caravan of approximately 9m length and 3m width. The applicant has stated that the 
caravan will be removed however, it was still present at the site during a site visit conducted on 8 
May 2024. 

 
 

Page 27



6.2.9 The appearance of the timber building is such that it has clearly been designed to be incorporated 
with the caravan and without the caravan in situ would be of a design that does not have an obvious 
use. The materials are shiplap timber walls with a felted monopitch roof which slopes down towards 
the front entrance away from the rear where it slightly extends over the caravan. There is no 
fenestration to the building on any elevation and it is not in keeping with the appearance of the 
agricultural building. It is considered that the design of the building is poor, it is designed around a 
feature that the applicant has stated will be removed and is not in keeping with the modern 
agricultural style of the permitted building. Consequently, it is considered that the character and 
appearance of the timber building is inappropriate and is contrary to Policy EN5 Design of New 
Development of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
6.2.10 Furthermore, the timber building is located within 5m of a brook that forms the eastern boundary of 

the site, Due to the presence of that brook and the River Anker to the north of the site, the site 
including the permitted agricultural building lies within an area designated by the Environment 
Agency as Flood Zone 3. No flood risk assessment or flood safety plan has been provided by the 
applicant to support the retention of the timber building, which if used for restroom purposes would 
be expected to be used by agricultural workers. Further information is required to determine the 
acceptability of retention of that building in respect of flood safety. 

 
6.2.6 The proposal for solar panels to the southern elevation has not been supported by the provision of 

drawings of such an installation, so it is not possible to consider in detail that element of the 
application. The proposed siting of solar panels has been considered by Network Rail in relation to 
rail safety and based upon additional information supplied by the applicant in respect of reflectivity 
potential of the intended installation, has advised that it would have no objection to such an 
installation. It is likely that the installation of such panels, as contended by the applicant in the 
description provided on the application form would fall under the terms of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) Schedule 2, Part 
14, Class J – Installation or alteration etc of solar equipment on non-domestic premises. Provided 
that the essential criteria of that legislation are met and its conditions complied with, such 
development would fall outside of the scope of this planning application. It has not been possible to 
confirm that however as no details of the proposed solar panel installation have been provided. 

 
6.2.9 The character and appearance of the proposed development is considered therefore contrary to 

Policy EN5 Design of New Development of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and National Design Guide.  

 
 
6.3 Landscape Character  
 
6.3.1 Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan Policy EN1 Landscape Character states that development 

and activities outside the urban area should be informed by landscape character assessments and 
contribute to the enhancement, restoration or regeneration of the landscape affected, as 
appropriate.  

 
6.3.2 The site is located within what is described as a lowland village farmlands landscape which has 

been acknowledged as being at risk of rapid loss of character. Local Plan Policy EN1 Landscape 
Character further states that landscape restoration using surviving character and landscape 
elements as a guide, will include hedgerow maintenance, habitat creation and tree/woodland 
planting. 

 
6.3.3 Historic aerial photography indicates that the site had been unmanaged between the early 2000s 

and 2020 with a self-seeded scrub landscape across the bulk of it. Throughout that time there was 
no obvious track across the site. 

 
6.3.4 The proposal has not been supported by an assessment however on review of the proposals, the 

track in particular introduces a scale and appearance largely different to the natural appearance of 
this landscape which is considered to not contribute to this enhancement, instead being harmful to 
this character. As a result of this this part of the proposal is therefore not in compliance with policy 
EN1 of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-31 and the NPPF.  

 
 
 

Page 28



6.3 Highway Safety 
 
6.3.1 Tamworth Local Plan policy EN5h) states that new developments will be expected to pay particular 

regard to highway safety and servicing requirements, the capacity of the local road network and the 
adopted parking standards set out in Appendix C. In addition, policy SU2 also states planning 
permission should only be granted where development would ensure adequate highway safety, 
suitable access for all people and where feasible reduce the impact of travel up on the environment. 
Planning permission will be refused where travel to and from the development would be likely to 
cause harmful levels of pollution, highway safety or capacity impacts. 

 
6.3.2 Vehicular access is currently from the northern end of Moor Lane which becomes designated as a 

Byway Open to All Traffic up to the point at which that route is crossed by the railway line. For a 
distance of approximately 40m north of the railway line the access route follows the alignment of a 
Bridleway before branching off that to follow an undesignated track which curves back towards the 
northern boundary of the railway line. That route then continues east towards the gated entrance of 
the applicant’s site. 

 
6.3.2 Staffordshire County Council Highways (SCCH) was consulted upon the proposal and concluded 

that the proposal is acceptable in highway safety terms, provided that conditions are imposed upon 
any approval to include traffic management measures during construction of the solar panel 
installation and the timber building being used only for its intended purpose ancillary to the 
agricultural building. Furthermore, SCCH advised that rights to use the track should be confirmed 
with the Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way team. 

 
6.3.3  The development would therefore comply with SU2 of the Tamworth Local Plan and the NPPF.  
 
 
6.4 Rights of Way  
 
6.4.1 SCCH also advised that “as the access track forms part of a public right of way the applicant will 

need to speak to Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way Team regarding this proposal.”  
 
6.4.2 Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way were consulted separately on the proposal and 

their response stated that: 
 
  “The Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way for Staffordshire shows a public right of way crossing 

the application site and public rights of way running along the access route. The following should be 
brought to the attention of the applicant: Public Footpath No.105 Tamworth runs across the 
application site, crossing the proposed vehicular access track to the site, and west of the proposed 
development. 

 
Public Bridleway No. 14 Tamworth Parish runs from the end of Moor Lane, under the railway and 
crosses the proposed vehicular access track to the site, before heading north east. 
Public BOAT No.14 Tamworth Parish runs along Moor Lane. 

 
 The granting of planning permission does not constitute authority for any interference with the public 

rights of way and associated items - or obstruction (temporary or permanent). 
 
 The term obstruction, in this context, also applies to items such as gates or stiles which are 

regarded as licenced obstructions which must be sanctioned by the highways authority. 
 
 Users of the rights of way must be able to exercise their public rights safely and at all times and the 

rights of way be reinstated if any damage to the surface occurs as a result of the proposed 
development. 

 
 If any public right of way needs diverting as part of these proposals the developer must apply to your 

council under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to divert the public rights of 
way to allow the development to commence. For further information the applicant must read section 
7 of DEFRA's Rights of Way Circular (1/09). It is also strongly suggested, in order to avoid unwanted 
complications, that guidance should be sought from Staffordshire County Council as Highways 
Authority, regarding the exact position of the Public Right of Way shown on the Definitive Map. 

 

Page 29

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69304/pb13553-rowcircular1-09-091103.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69304/pb13553-rowcircular1-09-091103.pdf


 Should this planning application be approved and any right of way require a temporary diversion, 
please see the County Council website for guidance and an application form. 

 
 Where private rights exist that allow the use of vehicles along a public right of way, drivers of 

vehicles must give way to: pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders in the case of bridleways, and 
pedestrians in the case of footpaths. 

 
 In the absence of private rights, driving a vehicle on a public right of way is a criminal offence. 
 Any works that affect the surface of the rights of way require discussions with the County Council 

Rights of Way Team. 
 
 Staffordshire County Council has not received any application to add to or modify the Definitive Map 

of Public Rights of Way in that vicinity. 
 
 The possibility of the existence of a currently unrecognised public right of way, makes it advisable 

that the applicant pursue further enquiries and seek legal advice regarding any visible route 
affecting the land, or the apparent exercise of a right of way by members of the public. 

 
6.4.3 Following the advice from Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way it is imperative that 

private rights of way to the site are established by the applicant to ensure that access is legal under 
legislation outside of the planning system. To date no definitive statement of a private right of way 
has been received from the applicant, however that is not a material consideration in respect of this 
application. 

 
 
6.5  Ecology 
 
6.5.1 Policy EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity states development will be required to 

demonstrate appropriate mitigation to ensure no negative impact. In addition, development will be 
supported that preserves designated biodiversity maintains the favourable conservation status of 
populations of protected species and incorporates existing landscape features. Development should 
not result in a net loss of biodiversity by ensuring that where harm to biodiversity is unavoidable and 
it has been demonstrated that no alternative sites are suit able, development is adequately mitigated 
or as a last resort, compensated for; otherwise planning permission should be refused. 

 
6.5.2 The proposal has been referred to Staffordshire County Council Ecology due to par to the access 

route to the site being within an area designated as Site of County Biological Importance. 
 
6.5.3 At the time of writing this report a response has not been received from the Staffordshire County 

Council Ecology team. Notwithstanding this, there is unlikely to be a negative impact of a hard 
standing and the other developments submitted with this application due to their respective 
locations. As a result, the development would accord with policy EN4 of the Tamworth Local Plan 
2006-31 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 
6.6 Amenity 
 
6.6.1 Policy EN5 – Design and New Development states that developments will be expected to minimise 

or mitigate environmental impacts for the benefit of existing and prospective occupants of 
neighbouring land. Such impacts may include loss of light, privacy or security or unacceptable noise, 
pollution, flooding or sense of enclosure. NPPF paragraph 130 f) also states that planning decisions 
should ensure that developments create places with a high standard of amenity for existing and 
future users.  

  
6.6.2 The nearest neighbours to the principal part of the site where the agricultural and timber buildings 

are positioned, are located south of the railway line on Selker Drive at a distance of approximately 
90m from the site separated from it by the railway line and Brindley Drive. At that distance with 
levels changes in between and the noise generated by rail operations and road traffic it is unlikely 
that there would be any direct bearing upon neighbour amenity from the site. 

 
6.6.3 The development is visible from the football fields at the Tamworth Borough Council operated Anker 

Valley Sports Complex. It should be noted though that users of the complex are not resident and 
would not be significantly impacted by viewing the proposed development. 

Page 30

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/environment/RightsofWay/Legal/Application-and-Guidance-for-Temporary-Footpath-Closure.docx


6.6.4 The amenity of residents more generally within the Bolehall area is impacted by vehicle activity 
accessing the site using the Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT), Bridleway and non-designated track 
all to the north of the northern end of Moor Lane. The development has introduced vehicle activity to 
those features that was not previously present and means that pedestrians on those routes do come 
into contact with vehicles using them. It should be noted that use of the BOAT by vehicles is legally 
acceptable, however legal vehicular use of the bridleway and non-designated track is subject to the 
existence of private rights of way which are not a material planning matter. The non-designated part 
of the access route is not a public footpath, nor is it on common land, but it is used by walkers to 
access the railway footbridge and the public footpath that crosses the bridge. The amenity issue in 
this context is the general interaction between vehicles and pedestrians brought about by the 
development. 

 
6.6.6 There is unlikely to be a direct impact upon neighbour amenity from the proposal due to the distance 

of the site from neighbours. It is recognised that there are traffic and public safety implications of the 
proposal in respect of the vehicular use of the proposed access route, however that is not a matter 
material to the application. From an amenity perspective therefore, the proposal is considered to be 
in accordance with the amenity aspects of Policy EN5 Design of New Development of the Tamworth 
Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
 
7 Conclusion 
 
7.1 The proposal for the installation of a stoned access track, manoeuvring area to front of agricultural 

building and timber restroom (retrospective), installation of solar panels to rear roof slope has been 
considered in respect of its principle, character and appearance, highway safety and ecology terms. 

 
7.2 The assessments have considered how the various parts of the proposal relate to the permitted to 

the site including the permitted agricultural building and to the surrounding areas. In particular the 
assessment has considered the design characteristics of the elements of the application. It has 
been noted that the proposed installation of solar panels would most likely fall within the scope of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as 
amended and subject to provision of adequate information would therefore not be covered by this 
application. The remaining elements of the track and hard standing and retention of the timber 
building have been found to be contrary to the design and landscape requirements of the Tamworth 
Local Plan.  

 
 
8 Recommendation 
 

Refusal   
 
Reasons for Refusal 

 
1. The proposed retention of the structure described as a timber restroom is unacceptable due to its 

design which is (a) not in keeping with the design of the agricultural storage building (b) designed 
around the presence of a caravan which whilst it was still present on the 8th May 2024, the Applicant 
has stated will be removed and (c) is of poor design and materials that are harmful to the character 
and appearance of the site. The proposed retention of the timber restroom is therefore not in 
compliance with Policy EN5 Design of New Development of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 
2. The access track by virtue of the materials used in construction are deemed to be inappropriate for 

the setting and out of character with the site as a whole and therefore not in accordance with Policy 
EN5 Design of New Development of the Tamworth Local Plan 2006-2031. 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5a 0367/2023 South Staffordshire College
	5b 0061/2024 Land off Moor Lane, Bolehall

